DISCUSSION OF LAW

Separation of powers is one of our government's most fundamental precepts.

“The legislative, executive and judicial departments shall be separate and distinct, so that neither shall exercise the powers properly belonging to either of the others[.]”

– *West Virginia Constitution, Article V, § 1.*

It is unquestioned that separation of powers is a concept intrinsic both to our state and federal governments. The Separation of Powers Clause of Article V, § 1, *supra*, “is not merely a suggestion; it is part of the fundamental law of our State and, as such, it must be strictly construed and closely followed.” *State ex rel. W. Va. Citizens Action Group v. W. Va. Economic Development Comm.*, 580 S.E.2d 869, 877 (2003) As Justice Davis has noted,

The Separation of Powers Clause is not self-executing. Standing alone the doctrine has no force or effect. The Separation of Powers Clause is given life by each branch of government working exclusively within its constitutional domain and not encroaching upon the legitimate powers of any other branch of government. This is the essence and longevity of the doctrine.

State ex rel. Affiliated Constr. Trades Found. v. Vieweg, 520 S.E.2d 854, 869 (1999) (concurring opinion).

Our state’s formula for the judiciary is found in Article VIII. Some of the courts’ “legitimate powers” are those found in § 3. Among them, “The court shall have the power to promulgate rules for all cases and proceedings, civil and criminal, for all of the courts of the State relating to writs, warrants, process, practice and procedure, which shall have the force and effect of law.”

Power to create rules regarding trial “process, practice and procedure” is thus vested in the Supreme Court of Appeals, and such rules have primary force. This Court has held, “under Article VIII, Section 8 [and Section 3] of the Constitution of West Virginia (commonly known as the Judicial Reorganization Amendment), administrative rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of

Appeals of West Virginia have the force and effect of statutory law and operate to supersede any law that is in conflict with them." *Bennett v. Commonwealth Land Title Insurance Co.*, 372 S.E.2d 920, syl. pt. 2 (1988) (modification in original).

Rule 48 – which requires a unanimous verdict unless the parties stipulate otherwise – is this Court’s exercise of its constitutional power to regulate procedural matters in our state’s trial courts.

Rule 48 of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure states, “The parties may stipulate that the jury shall consist of any number fewer than six or that a verdict or a finding of a stated majority of the jurors shall be taken as the verdict or finding of the jury.” The rule explicitly provides an alternative to the traditional unanimous verdict. The obvious *implicit* meaning is that a unanimous verdict is the norm for civil trials.

Evidence of this presumption of a unanimity requirement is found in multiple sources. In Lugar and Silberstein’s seminal treatise on West Virginia’s newly adopted rules of civil procedure, the authors discussed Rule 48. Marlyn E. Lugar & Lee Silverstein, *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure* 364 (Michie 1960). They examined the question whether “the right of unanimous verdict” could be waived, given the constitutional right to trial by jury. They concluded, “Since the parties may waive jury trial altogether by failing to demand it, Rules 38 (d) and 39 (b), it would seem, *a fortiori*, that they can demand jury trial but waive *the requirement of unanimity*.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The mandatory nature of the unanimity requirement is apparent.

The analysis of the rule in *Michie’s Jurisprudence* also presents the rule in terms of a general mandate:

The assent of all the jurors is essential to a valid verdict. The Virginia Constitution and the Virginia Rules of Criminal Practice and Procedure both require the verdict in criminal prosecutions to be unanimous. The West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, however, provide that, if the parties so stipulate, a finding of a stated majority of the jurors will be taken as the verdict or finding of the jury.

Michie's Jurisprudence of Virginia and West Virginia vol. 19, § 7, 667 (LexisNexis 2003). The general rule is the requirement of unanimity, which the parties may modify if they so stipulate.²

Two other points also demonstrate that the meaning of Rule 48 is obvious. First, there is a notable absence of cases construing it. There simply has not been occasion to interpret it because it is an established part of this state's trial procedure. The second and related point is that trial courts consistently instruct that civil trial verdicts must be unanimous and routinely work from that presumption.³ This shows the elemental nature of the rule: unanimous verdicts simply have been and continue to be the law of this state. While this requirement spent its formative years as a common-law practice, it has matured as a rule issued by this Court under its constitutional authority.

The fact of a unanimity requirement in Rule 48 is also evidenced by the interpretations of its federal counterpart in the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure ("FRCP"), which have similarly concluded that verdict unanimity is implicit in the rule. West Virginia's Rules of Civil Procedure were patterned from the federal rules, and analysis of the latter is standard persuasive authority in interpreting the former. For example, in *State ex rel. Leung v. Sanders*, when analyzing the timing requirements of the rules regarding filing a third-party complaint, this Court cited the advisory committee notes of the federal rule. 584 S.E.2d 203 (2003). The Court then explained, "We have

² The *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*, unfortunately, does not provide any insight on this issue, but only cites *Masino v. Outboard Marine Corp.*, 652 F.2d 330 (3d Cir. 1981) and *Weiser v. Chrysler Motors Corp.*, 69 F.R.D. 97 (E.D.N.Y. 1975), discussed *infra*, in a footnote. Franklin D. Cleckley, Robin J. Davis & Louis J. Palmer, Jr., *Litigation Handbook on West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*, § 48, 844 (Juris Publishing 2002).

³ E.g., *McDaniel v. Kleiss*, 480 S.E.2d 170 (1996). "It is also recognized that *the very nature of the deliberative process, which requires the jurors to arrive at a unanimous verdict*, must of necessity require accommodation of individual views." *Id.* at 174 (discussing the rule against impeaching the jury verdict).

noted that "because the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure are patterned after the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, we often refer to interpretations of the Federal Rules when discussing our own rules." *Leung*, 584 S.E.2d at n. 3. (quoting *Keplinger v. Virginia Elec. & Power Co.*, 537 S.E.2d 632, 641 n.13 (2000)).⁴

Our original Rule 48 tracked the federal rule's language exactly, with its reference to twelve jurors instead of the current six. All four of the Circuit Courts of Appeal that have examined this issue have concluded that a unanimity requirement is implicit in the federal Rule 48. *Fox v. United States*, 417 F.2d 84 (5th Cir. 1969) (condemnation of quantities of drugs pursuant to the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act); *Masino v. Outboard Marine Corp.*, 652 F.2d 330 (3d Cir. 1981) (personal injury case); *Bledsoe v. Garcia*, 742 F.2d 1237 (10th Cir. 1984) (§ 1983 action); *Grossheim v. Freightliner Corp.*, 974 F.2d 745 (6th Cir. 1992) (personal injury case).⁵

In *Fox*, the Fifth Circuit's analysis was straightforward: "Unless otherwise stipulated, the verdict in a civil case must be the unanimous verdict of twelve jurors. *Fed.R.Civ.P. 48.*" 417 F.2d at 89. Since one of the jurors had indicated that he had not voted for the government, the court found there was no unanimity, and it reversed and remanded the case. *Id.*

In *Masino*, the district court determined that, in a diversity case, the federal unanimity requirement of FRCP 48 should be applied instead of Pennsylvania's "five-sixths majority verdict rule." The court found that "[t]he long-standing commitment to unanimous jury verdicts in the

⁴ See also *Kiser v. Caudill*, 599 S.E.2d 826 (2004): "Traditionally, this Court has utilized decisions of the federal courts when interpreting and applying our Rules of Civil Procedure." In that case the Court adopted the federal courts' "sham affidavit" rule for use in Rule 56 summary judgment analysis.

⁵ *Contra Weiser v. Chrysler Motors Corp.*, 69 F.R.D. 97 (E.D.N.Y. 1975) (district court upheld local rule allowing a majority verdict of ten from a twelve-person jury). See n. 6, *infra*.

federal courts has been recognized in *Rule 48 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure* Implicit in the rule is that unless otherwise stipulated by the parties, a jury verdict in the federal courts must be unanimous” and that “[t]he ‘plain meaning’ of Rule 48 is that in the absence of a stipulation by the parties, a jury verdict must be unanimous in federal courts. *Masino*, 88 F.R.D. 251, 253, 255 (E.D. Pa. 1980) (citing *Fox*, *supra*, at 255).⁶ The Third Circuit agreed with this: “The federal unanimity requirement is implicit in *Fed.R.Civ.P. 48*[.]” *Masino*, 652 F.2d 330, 332 n. 2.

The *Masino* district court also explained the rule’s language.

The most likely reason why Rule 48 is not explicit in requiring unanimous verdicts is because the draftsmen of the Rules probably never thought it necessary to codify the unanimity requirement. As Justice Douglas has stated, “The unanimous jury has been so embedded in our legal history that no one would question its constitutional position and thus there was never any need to codify it.” *Johnson v. Louisiana*, 406 U.S. 356, 382 n.1, 92 S. Ct. 1629, 1644 n.1, 32 L. Ed. 2d 152 (1972) (dissenting opinion).

88 F.R.D. at n. 4.

⁶ The district court specifically rejected the reasoning of *Weiser*, *supra* n. 5, which held that there was no longer any federal procedural rule requiring unanimity in federal courts, relying on *Colgrove v. Battin*, 413 U.S. 149 (1973), which held that the rule did not require a twelve-person jury. The *Masino* court held

We cannot accept *Wieser*’s broad reading of the *Colgrove* case. The Supreme Court in *Colgrove* only addressed the narrow issue of whether district courts could provide in their local rules for a six-man jury in civil cases. The Court was not presented with the question of whether there must be unanimous agreement among jurors in order to render a verdict in federal civil trials. The Justices in no way intimated that unanimous jury verdicts, which have been utilized in federal courts for almost 200 years, are not required by the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure. We do not believe that *Colgrove* can be read as an abandonment of the long-held federal rule requiring unanimous verdicts.

88 F.R.D. at 255.

The next circuit court case was *Bledsoe, supra*. The appellants had raised the argument made in *Weiser*, and the Tenth Circuit noted that it had been rejected in *Masino*. The Tenth Circuit found no error in the trial court's unanimity instruction.

Finally, the Sixth Circuit also held that federal law requires a unanimous verdict. *Grossheim*, 974 F.2d 745, 752-753. The district court had granted a mistrial after it found, after polling and interview, that one juror "genuinely disagreed" with the verdict. *Grossheim*, 974 F.2d at 753. The district court judge examined FRCP 48.

The reasoning implicit in the rule becomes clear when one reviews that rule: "The parties may stipulate that the jury shall consist of any number less than twelve or that a verdict or a finding of a stated majority of the jurors shall be taken as the verdict or finding of the jury," which would give the clear impression that if there is no stipulation, there must be unanimity, that the unanimity requirement may only be relieved by stipulation.

Grossheim, 974 F.2d at 750. He also looked at the Third Circuit's statement in *Masino*, that "the federal unanimity requirement is implicit" in the rule, and then concluded, "So it appears that the federal rule of unanimity is rather implicit without having been stated per se." *Grossheim*, 974 F.2d at 750-751.

Federal Practice and Procedure also noted that the rule had a unanimity presumption. Charles Alan Wright & Arthur R. Miller, *Federal Practice and Procedure* vol. 9A, § 2492, n. 13 (2d ed., West 1995). The authors also state that federal rule's 1991 language change, if anything, strengthened that presumption – that a verdict must be unanimous in the absence of a stipulation by the parties.⁷ *Id.*

⁷ In 1991, the federal rule was amended to reflect local district court rules, which had generally adopted a six-person jury. The amended rule reads

The court shall seat a jury of not fewer than six and not more than twelve members and all jurors shall participate in the verdict unless excused from service by the

**West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6d – which allows a non-unanimous verdict –
conflicts with Rule 48 and is therefore unconstitutional.**

Section 6d provides, *inter alia*,

Notwithstanding any other provision of this code, the jury in any trial of an action for medical professional liability shall consist of twelve members. The judge shall instruct the jury that they should endeavor to reach a unanimous verdict but, if they cannot reach a unanimous verdict, they may return a majority verdict of nine of the twelve members of the jury. The judge shall accept and record any verdict by nine members of the jury. . . .

While the legislature has extensive powers, there is a duty both on it and on this Court to avoid violations of the separation of power mandated by our constitution. As discussed above, the Court has plenary power to enact rules related to procedural matters in the state's trial courts. Legislation is not, of course, rendered unconstitutional merely because it touches on a subject that is governed by one of these rules. Instead, a particular law is only unconstitutional when it is in direct conflict with a rule, or when the legislature clearly intrudes into the Court's province.

An example of this power interplay is found in *Bennett, supra*. In that case this Court examined the jury qualification forms requirement then found in West Virginia Code § 52-1-7. After asserting its authority to enact procedural rules, the Court concluded that

This Court's rule regarding jury selection, W. Va. T.C.R. XII, does not, however, address the matter of juror qualification forms. Therefore, until this Court promulgates such a rule, the Legislature is not disabled from filling in the interstices, and we see no reason to invalidate the statutory requirements in question.

Id. at 923.

The court shall seat a jury of not fewer than six and not more than twelve members and all jurors shall participate in the verdict unless excused from service by the court pursuant to Rule 47(c). Unless the parties otherwise stipulate, (1) the verdict shall be unanimous and (2) no verdict shall be taken from a jury reduced in sized to fewer than six members.

On a more related note is *Daniel v. Charleston Area Medical Center*, 544 S.E.2d 905 (2001). In that case, this Court interpreted a provision of the MPLA (§ 55-7B-6(a)) to require that, once a court determined that expert testimony would be required, a court must allow a reasonable period of time for the party to retain an expert witness, notwithstanding a prior Rule 16(b) deadline for disclosing experts. *Daniel*, 544 S.E.2d 908. Justice Davis wrote a concurring opinion to explicitly reconcile the statutory requirements with WVRCP 16 and to provide "additional guidance in understanding and applying the holding." *Id.* at 909 (joined by J. Maynard). In footnote 2, Justice Davis also raised the question whether the statute at issue "offends the constitutional authority of this Court to regulate procedural matters in the trial courts of this State" She concluded – in that case – that the procedural rules there at issue "[were] not in conflict with Rule 16(b), but rather they supplement the rule." *Id.* at n. 2.

Two other cases are representative of the flip side – when the legislature has transgressed upon the Court's authority. First, *Stern Bros., Inc. v. McClure*, 236 S.E.2d 222 (1977). *Stern Bros.* involved the procedures to be used for appointing a substitute judge after a trial judge has been disqualified. Although prior statutes purported to deal with the issue, the Court had since that time enacted a rule on the issue. The Court reiterated the basis for its rulemaking authority and noted that the statutory procedures were ineffective and "cumbersome at best." *Id.* at 574. The Court then concluded,

The administrative rule promulgated by this Court now controls the procedure for selection of a temporary judge where a disqualification exists as to a circuit court judge. Under Article VIII, Section 8 of the West Virginia Constitution, it operates to supercede the existing statutory provisions found in W. Va. Code, 51-2-9 and -10, and W. Va. Code, 56-9-2, insofar as they relate to the selection of special judges or the assignment of the case to another circuit judge when a circuit judge is disqualified.

Our Rule 48 was amended in 1998 to reflect the language change from twelve jurors to six.

Id. at 575.

The second illustrative case is *Mayhorn v. Logan Medical Foundation*, 454 S.E.2d 87 (1994). In *Mayhorn*, the cross-assignment of error involved the MPLA's § 55-7B-7, "which outlines the qualifications of an expert in a medical malpractice case." *Id.* at 94. The Court found that West Virginia Rule of Evidence 702 was instead the proper authority to determine expert witness qualifications.

This Court has complete authority to determine an expert's qualifications pursuant to its constitutional rule-making authority. . . . Accordingly, we hold that Rule 702 of the West Virginia Rules of Evidence is the paramount authority for determining whether or not an expert is qualified to give an opinion. Therefore, to the extent that *Gilman v. Choi*, 185 W. Va. 177, 406 S.E.2d 200 (1990) indicates that the legislature may by statute determine when an expert is qualified to state an opinion, it is overruled.

Id. at 94.

This Court has recently even more specifically discussed the interplay between its rules and the MPLA, in *West Virginia ex rel. Weirton Medical Center v. Muzzone*, 587 S.E.2d 122 (2002).

There the Court held, *inter alia*, that

the provisions of the Medical Professional Liability Act, W. Va. Code §§ 55-7B-1 to -11, govern actions falling within its parameters, *subject to this Court's power to promulgate rules for all cases and proceedings, including rules of practice and procedure, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 3 of the West Virginia Constitution.*

Id. at 128 (emphasis added).

In this case, § 55-7B-6d does conflict with Rule 48. The subsection clearly states that in medical malpractice cases, the jury's verdict does not have to be unanimous – a majority verdict of nine of the twelve will suffice. This is directly contrary to the unanimity requirement implicit in Rule 48, as discussed above. The appellee argued in his response to the petition for appeal that the section does not conflict with the rule but instead only expresses an "additional option[]" that *may* be

stipulated to by the parties” This, of course, begs the question – an option to *what*? The default – the “what” – is a unanimous verdict, implicit in the rule’s language, obvious from local commentary and practice, and obvious from interpretations of the analogous federal rule.