IN THE
WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

FILED
OCT 29 2004
RORY L. PERRY II, CLERK
SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS
OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 31773

RITA MAE LOUK,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

SERGE CORMIER, M.D.,

Defendant-Appellee.

APPELLEE'S REPLY BRIEF

Counsel for Appellee Serge Cormier, M.D.

Brent P. Copenhaver, Esquire
W.Va. Bar No. 4819
COLOMBO & STUHR, PLLC
1054 Maple Drive
Morgantown, WV 26505
(304) 599-4229

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

IV. Discussion of Law

1. The Appellant Failed To Properly Preserve Her Objection And Constitutional Challenge To The Court's Instruction To The Jury That The Verdict Could Be Non-unanimous, Therefore Any Right To Challenge At This Stage Was Waived.

From a review of the portions of the record that were designated by the Appellant, the Appellant clearly failed to properly preserve any objection or challenge to the constitutionality of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6d (2002), which authorized the trial court in this instance to instruct the jury that it could render its verdict against either party with the consent of at least 9 out of 12 members of the jury. Based on the record before the Court, it is clear that the first point in time that this objection or constitutional challenge was made was in the Plaintiff's Motion for New Trial, *after* the verdict was rendered. Under the law of West Virginia, the Appellant waived her right to challenge the constitutionality of the statute under these circumstances.

Where objections were not shown to have been made at the trial court level, and the matters of concern were not jurisdictional in nature, those objections should not be considered on appeal. *Estep v. Brewer*, 453 S.E.2d 345 (W.Va. 1994). See also *Shaffer v. Acme Limestone*, 206 W.Va. 333, 524 S.E.2d 688 (1999). To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate the objection or issue with "sufficient distinctiveness" to alert a Circuit Court to the nature of the claimed defect. *State v. Shrewsbury*, 213 W.Va. 327, 582 S.E.2d 774 (2003); *Kessel v. Leavitt*, 204 W.Va. 95, 511 S.E.2d 720 (1998). See also *Konchesky v. S. J. Groves and Sons Company*, 135 S.E.2d 299 (W.Va. 1964). In this regard, it has been held that a non-jurisdictional question raised on appeal had not been properly preserved at the trial court level when the objection was not raised by the Appellant until *after* the jury had

rendered a verdict. *West Virginia Department of Highways v. Delta Concrete Co.*, 165 W.Va. 398, 402, 268 S.E.2d 124, 127 (1980).

The Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has held that a litigant “may not silently acquiesce to an alleged error, or actively contribute to such error, and then raise that error as a reason for reversal on appeal.” *Page v. Columbia Natural Resources, Inc.*, 198 W.Va. 378, 480 S.E.2d 817 (1996), Syllabus point 6 (citing Syllabus point 1 of *Maples v. West Virginia Department of Commerce*, 197 W.Va. 318, 475 S.E.2d 410 (1996)).

In West Virginia, a presumption favors the constitutionality of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6d, as held in *Sale v. Goldman*, 208 W.Va. 186, 539 S.E.2d 446 (2000) at Syllabus Pt. 1:

1. “When the constitutionality of a statute is questioned every reasonable construction of the statute must be resorted to by a Court in order to sustain constitutionality, and any doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment.” Syllabus point 3, *Willis v. O'Brien*, 151 W.Va. 628, 153 S.E.2d 178 (1967).

By the decision of *Sale*, this presumption was also reaffirmed in Syllabus point 2 as follows:

2. “The primary objective in construing a statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature.” Syllabus point 1, *Smith v. State Workmen’s Compensation Commissioner*, 159 W.Va. 108, 219 S.E.2d 361 (1975).

The sole issue raised in this appeal relates to the constitutionality of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6d, and the Appellant failed to properly preserve the objection for appeal. In his opinion for the court in the case of *Whitlow v. Board of Education of Kanawha County*, 190 W.Va. 223, 438 S.E.2d 15 (1993), Justice Miller wrote that a constitutional question raised for the first time on appeal will only be addressed if it is a “controlling issue” in the resolution of the case. *Whitlow*, 190 W.Va. 223, 226, 438 S.E.2d 15, 19. In the matter

presently before the Court, the resolution of the constitutionality of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6d is clearly not a “controlling issue.”

The Appellant raised no objection to the actual instruction given to the jury by the Court that tracked the language of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6d.² Based on her brief, the Appellant has no objection to the requirement in the statute for a 12 person jury, and only challenges the constitutionality of the provision for the non-unanimous majority verdict of 9 out of 12 jurors. Although the Appellant does not criticize the wording of the instruction on non-unanimity, the last logical point in time for the Appellant to have challenged the constitutionality of this provision in the statute would have been prior to the point when Judge Moats read the instructions to the jury. However, there was never any objection to the non-unanimity provision in the instruction to the jury until the Appellant filed her Motion for New Trial. As with other potential trial errors, the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia has held that objections to instructions must also be made in a timely fashion, prior to arguments to the jury. See *Keese v. General Refuse Service, Inc.*, 2004 WL 1472010 (W.Va., June 29, 2004), Syllabus point 10. The general rule on this subject was succinctly stated by Justice Davis in her opinion for this Court in *Tracy v. Cottrell*, 206 W.Va. 363, 524 S.E.2d 879 (1999):

Before reaching the merits of the parties’ contentions, it is necessary to review the applicable law. Typically, this Court refuses to consider instructional error on appeal unless an objection was made at trial.

² The following passage was included in the jury charge by Judge Moats:

Unanimity. Under the law of West Virginia that applies to this medical malpractice action, you should endeavor to reach a unanimous verdict. However, if you cannot reach a unanimous verdict, you should return a majority verdict of 9 of the 12 members of the jury. The verdict shall bear the signatures of all jurors who have concurred in the verdict. The verdict shall be announced in open court either by the Jury Foreperson or by any of the jurors concurring in the verdict.

As a general rule, no party may assign as error the giving of an instruction unless he objects thereto before the arguments to the jury are begun, stating distinctly as to the instruction the matter to which he objects and the grounds of his objection; and ordinarily only grounds thus assigned in the trial court will be considered on appeal of the case to this Court.

Syl. pt. 6, *State v. Davis*, 153 W.Va. 742, 172 S.E.2d 569 (1970). *Accord* W.Va. R. Civ. P. 51 (same); Syl pt. 1, *Roberts v. Powell*, 157 W.Va. 199, 207 S.E.2d 123 (1973) (“A party may only assign error to the giving of instructions if he objects thereto before arguments to the jury are begun stating distinctly the manner to which he objects and the grounds of his objection”).

Tracy, 206 W.Va. 363, 375-376, 524 S.E.2d 879, 891-892.

No cases have been decided by the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia that are directly on point with the question presented by this case. Counsel for the Appellee performed an exhaustive search for similar decisions in other jurisdictions, resulting in the discovery of several cases involving situations analogous to the case at bar.

The Supreme Court of North Dakota has held that an attack on the constitutionality of a state statute permitting a verdict to be returned by five-sixths of a jury in an action for conversion of personal property could not be considered on appeal because the question had not been raised at trial. *Company A, First Regiment, North Dakota National Guard Training School v. Hughes*, 205 N.W. 722 (N.D. 1925).

The Court of Special Appeals of Maryland ruled that the constitutionality of a provision of the Maryland Consumer Protection Act that denied a right to a jury trial would not be reviewed because no request for a jury trial had ever been made at the trial level and the issue was not raised until the matter was appealed. *Smith v. Attorney General of Maryland*, 46 Md.App. 78, 94, 415 A.2d 651, 660 (Md.Ct.Spec.App. 1980).

The Supreme Court of Arkansas held that a constitutional claim assailing the Arkansas attorney's lien statute could not be raised on appeal because the appellant failed to raise the

constitutional claim until her motion for new trial, and the Court found that the question had not been properly preserved for appellate review. *Lee v. Daniel*, 350 Ark. 466, 91 S.W.3d 464 (Ark. 2002).

The Supreme Court of Missouri ruled that a constitutional question regarding the trial court's refusal to give certain individual instructions to the jury had not been properly preserved and would not be reviewed by the Supreme Court, in the case of *Hartzler v. Metropolitan St. Ry. Co.*, 117 S.W. 1124 (Mo. 1909). In the Court's opinion, it was noted that "[U]p to the moment of verdict and judgment, no constitutional guaranty was invoked by Defendant." *Id.* In support of the ruling that the constitutional question was not properly preserved, the Court in *Hartzler* observed that there had been numerous missed opportunities to preserve the constitutional question:

It becomes apparent, from an examination made of the record, that the constitutional question, in due course of orderly procedure below, could have been put on the case by the answer, or in the instructions, or in other timely ways, so as to save it. The motion for a new trial was not the first door open for the question to enter, and in our later decisions we have ruled that *a question of such gravity must be raised as soon as orderly procedure will allow*; and this in order that the trial court may be treated fairly, and the question get into the case under correct safeguards and earmarked as of substance and not mere color.

Hartzler, 117 S.W. 1124 (emphasis added).

In the recent case of *Cockrell v. Pearl River Valley Water Supply District*, 865 So.2d 357 (Miss. 2004), the Supreme Court of Mississippi held that an attack on the constitutionality of a provision of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act (MTCA) that provides that motorist claims are to be determined *without* a jury, had been waived because the motorist failed to raise the claim at the trial court level. Similarly, the Supreme Court of Mississippi held that a claimed violation of the separation of powers doctrine of the Mississippi Constitution (concerning process to initiate parental rights termination proceedings by

Mississippi DHS) was waived for failure to properly preserve the question at the trial court level. *In the Interest of V.R., G.R., and B.J.R. v. Dept. of Human Services for the State of Mississippi*, 725 So.2d 241 (Miss. 1998). See also *Colburn v. State*, 431 So.2d 1111, 1114 (Miss. 1983).

The Supreme Court of Nebraska has held that a claimed unconstitutional violation of the doctrine of separation of powers in the Nebraska Constitution (concerning issuance of a peremptory writ in a mandamus proceeding) could not be maintained because the argument was not properly presented to the lower court, even though the question involved a constitutional claim. *State ex rel. Steinke v. Lautenbaugh*, 263 Neb. 652, 642 N.W.2d 132 (2002).

Ample authority exists for the rejection of this appeal simply on the basis of the failure of the appellant to properly preserve the question of constitutionality of West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6d prior to her motion for new trial. On this basis alone, the appeal should be rejected and the ruling of Judge Moats denying the motion for new trial should be affirmed.

2. West Virginia Code § 55-7B-6d Is Not In Direct Conflict With Any Existing Rule of Procedure Regarding Jury Verdicts, And Therefore Does Not Violate The Separation Of Powers Provision Of The West Virginia Constitution.

A presumption of constitutionality of a statute is a time honored maxim of West Virginia law. In cases involving the separation of powers doctrine of the state constitution, this presumption is no less important, as set forth in Syl. Point 1 of *State ex rel. Blankenship v. Richardson*, 196 W.Va. 726, 474 S.E.2d 906 (1996):

1. “ ” “In considering the constitutionality of a legislative enactment, courts must exercise due restraint, in recognition of the principle of the separation of powers in government among the judicial, legislative, and executive branches. [*W.Va. Const. Art. V, § 1*]. Every reasonable construction must be resorted to by the courts in order

to sustain constitutionality, and any reasonable doubt must be resolved in favor of the constitutionality of the legislative enactment in question. Courts are not concerned with questions relating to legislative policy. The general powers of the legislature, within constitutional limits, are almost plenary. In considering the constitutionality of an act of the legislature, the negation of legislative power must appear beyond reasonable doubt.” Syl. Pt. 1, *State ex rel. Appalachian Power Co. v. Gainer*, 149 W.Va. 740, 143 S.E.2d 351 (1965).’ Syl. Pt. 2, *West Virginia Public Employees Retirement System v. Dodd*, 183 W.Va. 544, 396 S.E.2d 725 (1990).” Syl. Pt. 1, *Lewis v. Canaan Valley Resorts, Inc.*, 185 W.Va. 684, 408 S.E.2d 634 (1991).

In his opinion for the Court, Justice McHugh noted that while it is the duty of the Supreme Court to determine the constitutionality of legislation, it is improper for the Court to “sit as a superlegislature, commissioned to pass upon the political, social, economic, or scientific merits of statutes pertaining to proper subjects of legislation. *Boyd v. Merritt*, 177 W.Va. 472, 474, 352 S.E.2d 106, 108 (1986). It is the duty of the legislature to consider facts, establish policy, and embody that policy in legislation.” 196 W.Va. 726, 731, 474 S.E.2d 906, 911.

In her brief, the appellant cites *Bennett v. Warner*, 179 W.Va. 742, 372 S.E.2d 920 (1988). Syl. Pt. 1 and 2, which are indeed relevant to the case presently before the Court, state as follows:

1. Under article eight, section three of our Constitution, the Supreme Court of Appeals shall have the power to promulgate rules for all of the courts of the State related to process, practice and procedure, which shall have the force and effect of law.

2. “Under Article VIII, Section 8 [and Section 3] of the Constitution of West Virginia (commonly known as the Judicial Reorganization Amendment), administrative rules promulgated by the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia have the force and effect of statutory law and operate to supersede any law that is in conflict with them.” Syl. Pt. 1, *Sterns Brothers, Inc. v. McClure*, 160 W.Va. 567, 236 S.E.2d 222 (1977).

(emphasis added).

In *Bennett*, the Supreme Court of Appeals found that a statute requiring the completion of juror qualification forms did not violate the separation of powers or the Court’s authority to

establish rules of procedure. In the Court's opinion, Justice Darrell V. McGraw, Jr. made the following observation:

This Court's rule regarding jury selection, W.Va.T.C.R. XII, does not, however, address the matter of juror qualification forms. Therefore, until this Court promulgates such a rule, *the legislature is not disabled from filling in the interstices*, and we see no reason to invalidate the statutory requirements in question.

179 W.Va. 742, 745, 372 S.E.2d 920, 923 (emphasis added).

In the decision of *Frazier v. Meadows*, 193 W.Va. 20, 454 S.E.2d 65 (1994), Justice Cleckley, in his opinion for the Court, observed that the line of cases that included *Bennett v. Warner* and *Sterns Brothers, Inc. v. McClure* clarified where the line should be drawn for statutory law in the area of the administration of the state's judicial system. As noted in footnote 8 of the opinion by Justice Cleckley, "[t]he important point culled from these various cases is that statutory provisions are preceded only if there is a *direct* conflict." *Frazier*, 193 W.Va. 20, 25, 454 S.E.2d 65, 70 (1994). In a decision parallel to *Bennett v. Warner*, the Supreme Court of Appeals in *State ex rel. Kenamond v. Warmuth*, 179 W.Va. 230, 366 S.E.2d 738 (1988), found that a venue statute that predated the 1960 promulgation of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure was not invalidated when the rules took effect, noting that "none of the provisions of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure now attempt to modify the venue of actions in our circuit courts, and those limitations existing before promulgation of those rules should continue in existence." 179 W.Va. 230, 232, 366 S.E.2d 738, 740. In the opinion of the Court in *Kenamond*, Justice Darrell V. McGraw, Jr. again found no direct conflict between the venue statute and any specific rule of civil procedure.

In the decision of *State ex rel. Weirton Medical Center v. Mazzone*, 214 W.Va. 146, 587 S.E.2d 122 (2002), the Court revisited the issue of the statutory requirement for a

“mandatory status conference” to resolve the necessity for expert testimony in medical malpractice cases. Syl. Pt. 3 of the decision is pertinent to the case presently before the Court:

3. The provisions of the Medical Professional Liability Act, West Virginia Code §§ 55-7B-1 to-11 (1986), governed actions falling within its parameters, subject to this Court’s powers to promulgate rules for all cases and proceedings, including rules of practice and procedure, pursuant to Article VIII, Section 3 of the West Virginia Constitution.

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